017 6-6-94

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE MAR 22 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 82,793

AUGUSTAS J. RAWLS,

Respondent.

# MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY, #593280 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, #325791 BUREAU CHIEF-CRIMINAL APPEALS

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 29, 1991, petitioner, State of Florida, charged respondent, Augustas J. Rawls, with committing capital sexual battery on a male child (M.R.) by putting into his mouth the child's penis on or about July 25, 1991. (R. 247)

The State subsequently filed notices of its intent to introduce evidence at trial that Rawls had performed oral sex on three other young children, T.S., J.F., and K.F., and anal intercourse on one child, K.F. (R. 252-253) The defense moved in writing to exclude the admission of collateral crime evidence on the following grounds:

> 1. The proposed testimony's probative value is outweighed by the prejudicial effect on the Defendant.

2. The testimony of J.F. that he was threatened with physical violence by the Defendant, Augustas Rawls, is isolated and not part of any pattern or course of conduct.

3. If the Court allows the proposed Williams Rule testimony only one witness should be permitted to testify as to prior acts so that the evidence is not so distracting as to prevent the Defendant from getting a fair trial.

# (R. 261)

The defense's motion was heard immediately preceding commencement of the trial. (R. 3-4) At the outset of the hearing, the State indicated that no evidence of anal intercourse between Rawls and any of the collateral crime victims would be presented. (R. 5) The prosecutor, with the defense's approval (R. 6), summarized the facts showing the degree of similarity between the charged and uncharged offenses:

- 1 -

Judge, the evidence concerning M.R. [victim in the instant case] is going to show that M.R. was approximately nine years old when Mr. Rawls moved in with him and his family, and at that time Mr. Rawls committed the offense of sexual battery by placing the child M.R.'s penis in his mouth. Also during that time the evidence would show that when Mr. Rawls moved in with the R. family, he paid rent, he gave financial assistance to the family in the way of paying the rent, paying the bills, buying gifts for the children, was frequently -- or was at least alone with the children.

And with regard to the other witnesses, also, Judge, an important factor in the case is that after the commission of the sexual batteries, Mr. Rawls told him not to tell anybody. And with regard to the other witnesses, each of the witnesses was approximately the same age as M.R. when the sexual batteries were committed on them.

Mr. Rawls lived with each family in similar circumstances: would pay rent, would buy gifts for the children over and above rent, help out the family financially and that type of thing. In each case he knew [prior to moving in with the family] the mother of the children that were involved.... \*\*\*

Also, Judge, in each case there were similar sex acts involved. There was oral sex with each child, and it was where each child's penis was placed in the defendant's mouth. So it was a similar sex act that was committed.

In each case the child will testify that Gus Rawls told them not to tell anybody. In addition, we have the admission from Mr. Rawls himself that he committed the act on M.R. and that there were other victims.

## (R. 6-8)

The defense pointed out that J.F. had testified that the sexual assaults occurred, not in his own home, but in Rawls'

trailer and in Rawls' parents' home, and that Rawls was not residing in J.F.'s home when the sexual assault in the trailer occurred. (R. 9-11)

In support of its motion to exclude the collateral crime evidence, the defense argued the following:

Judge, we would argue with regard to the Williams Rule testimony or the similar-fact testimony that if it's the State's position that they're just attempting to prove corroboration or that they're trying to show a common plan or to substantiate the story of M.R., that it's possible to do with [sic] that with one witness and no more than one witness.

Basically, what's gonna happen here if the State allows -- if the Court allows the State to proceed with this testimony, is that it's gonna be overwhelming in terms of Mr. Rawls' position and the prejudice to Mr. Rawls' position to have all of these young men coming in.

If their purpose is just to show -- to corroborate the story, then it should be sufficient to have one person do that and not have -- It would be overwhelming in terms of his right to a fair trial, in the prejudicial nature of this testimony, to have this number of boys coming in.

And, Judge, also I do want to -- there's something that was not mentioned. But one of these young men, J.F., indicates that there were some threats of violence made to him should he ever tell anybody about these particular incidents. However, M.R., indicates that at no time -- in the substantive case, in the principal case, he indicates at no time was there ever any type of threat of violence whatsoever. And I would ask that none of that testimony be admitted.

(R. 14-15)

The trial court denied the defense's motion in limine:

Well, as to the initial objection filed by the defense to this testimony, I'm going to overrule the objection and I'm going to allow the testimony to come in. \*\*\* When it's a swearing match between the defendant and one victim, then it would seem that if there are other victims, that their testimony would be admissible to corroborate the testimony of the victim of the case on trial. And once again, in this case you have even stronger grounds for the admission of this testimony because of the relationship between Mr. Rawls and each child involved in this case.

Now, that being said, I think the limitation on the evidence will be that -- or the admission of this evidence will be that only those -- that testimony which is similar in terms of the sexual act, that is, the oral sex of the defendant upon the child involved who is testifying will be allowed. Furthermore, I will not allow the State to question J.F. as to threats of intimidation or violence.

(R. 15-19) Defense counsel raised no objection to the admission of the collateral crime evidence when it was introduced at trial. (R. 110-151)

In opening statement, the prosecutor informed the jury that collateral crime evidence would be admitted to corroborate the victim's testimony. (R. 37-38) In closing, the prosecutor argued:

[C]redibility is the main issue in this case and it's the credibility of M.R. that's at issue in this case. It's whether or not you believe M.R.

As I indicated to you in jury selection, these are the types of crimes where there is no evidence. There's no medical testimony here that we can present you to show you whether or not oral sex was committed. There

- 4 --

is no medical evidence of that. This is the type of crime that's committed where there are no witnesses. Gus doesn't invite some buddies along to watch him do this type of deed. There's nobody else there. There's no other witnesses.

So how do we know whether or not M.R. is telling the truth? How do we know to give that child any credibility? Well, there are other witnesses, and those other witnesses established certain things. Those other witnesses by their testimony establish for you Gus Rawls' motive, his intent, his preparation, and his plan.

You heard the testimony in this case. It was that this man would basically attach himself to a family, become very good -- be a very good part of that family, pay for rent, help pay bills, buy the children gifts, endear himself to them. That's his plan. That's his method of operation. He did it to Marie S., became part of her family, had the opportunity to do this act to K.F., had the opportunity to do this to J.F. He became a part of Ms. P.'s family, paid bills, was good to that boy, had the opportunity to do that to T.S., and so on and so on. And last summer he did it with [M.R.'s family].

That's why that testimony is so important in this case, because it corroborates what M.R. said. It corroborates what Ms. R. said about how he attaches himself to a family, what he did, how he came to be in their house. All of that is such important testimony.

## (R. 201-203)

And later, the prosecutor argued:

How could it not be true? Did M.R. make it all up? Did J.F. make it all up? Did T.S. make it all up? \*\*\* To reject the testimony of M.R. is to reject the testimony of J.S., K.F., and T.S. Do you really believe that all four of them would come in here and make something up about this man? Do you really believe that all four would endure what they've had to endure, go this far with a lie? I submit to you that they haven't. (R. 206-207)

Rawls' theory of defense was that the sexual battery never occurred and that the testimony of all of the State's witnesses was unreliable. No opening statement was given. (R. 39, 155) Defense counsel argued in closing:

I think you're gonna find that with regard to [the victim], his statements are not reliable with regard to the other children, the statements are not reliable.... (R. 209)

I ask you to totally discredit [the police officer's] testimony because of the fact if they cannot provide the safeguards in a case of this magnitude, where we can hear what questions were asked and what [the defendant] said.... (R. 215)

This is a serious, serious case and I ask you totally disregard that testimony [relating to the defendant's confession]. (R. 216)

I think if you sit down and you consider and review this testimony [of the children], not one piece of it is reliable, not sufficiently reliable to bring back a verdict of guilty in a case such as this. (R. 221)

After closing argument was completed, the trial court called counsel to the bench and engaged them in the following dialogue:

> THE COURT: Regarding the Williams Rule instruction -- and it's indicating as that evidence relates to proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or the absence of mistake or accident on the part of the defendant -- based upon the Waring [Heuring] decision, I think it would be appropriate to insert also the language "or to corroborate the testimony of the victim in the case."

DEFENSE COUNSEL: I wouldn't ask for it.

PROSECUTOR: The State would request it.

THE COURT: I think that this Williams Rule instruction was created prior to the Waring [Heuring] decision, and the primary basis of Waring is to allow the testimony on the issue of corroboration. So I will go ahead and modify the instruction and I'll note that you're not asking for it, Ms. Nicholas. But if you have any objection, you'd better go ahead and state it on the record.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: We object to giving it because it's not in the form.

COURT: Okay. I'm going to go ahead and modify it.

(R. 229-230) (e.s.)

Thereafter, the trial court instructed the jury, in pertinent part, as follows:

The evidence which has been admitted to show similar crimes, wrong, or acts allegedly committed by the defendant will be considered by you only as that evidence relates to proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or the absence of mistake or accident on the part of the defendant or to corroborate the testimony of the alleged victim in this case. However, the defendant is not on trial for a crime that is not included in the information.

(R. 234) (e.s.)

After deliberating for an hour, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of sexual battery as charged in the information. (R. 239, 241-243, 262)

The defense moved in writing for a new trial, in pertinent part, on the ground that the trial court had erred in "[d]enying Defendant's Motion in limine with regard to the introduction of Williams Rule testimony." (R. 264) At the sentencing hearing, the defense stated, "Judge, we have submitted a motion for new trial, we submit it without argument." (R. 270) The trial court responded, "I've reviewed the motion and I'm prepared to deny the motion at this time." (R. 270)

Rawls was adjudicated guilty of capital sexual battery and sentenced to prison for life with a 25-year minimum mandatory term. (R. 271-272, 275-277, 280)

At sentencing, Rawls also pled nolo contendere to six counts of attempted sexual battery and one count of lewd and lascivious assault in unrelated cases, for which he received prison sentences to be served concurrently with the life sentence imposed for sexual battery in the instant case. (R. 267-272, 275-281)

Rawls appealed his judgment and sentence for capital sexual battery to the First District Court of Appeal, raising two issues:

ISSUE I. THE TRIAL COURT'S ADMISSION OF TESTIMONY OF THREE BOYS ALLEGING SEXUAL ACTS BY MR. RAWLS ON THEM WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

ISSUE II. THE TRIAL COURT'S MODIFICATION OF THE WILLIAMS RULE INSTRUCTION TO INCLUDE CORROBORATION AS A PROPER PURPOSE WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

(I.B. i)

As to the first issue, Rawls argued that (1) the evidence was irrelevant because the degree of similarity between the charged and uncharged offenses was too low, or, alternatively, (2) the probative value of the evidence was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice because the collateral crime evidence became a feature of the trial. (I.B. 9-13) In response, the State argued that (1) the issue was procedurally barred because the collateral crime evidence was not objected to when admitted at trial, as was required by two cases from this Court, <u>Correll</u> <u>v. State</u>, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) and <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 114 So. 534 (1927); (2) the evidence was relevant; and (3) its probative value was not outweighed by unfair prejudice. (A.B. 8-17)

As to the second issue, Rawls argued that (1) there was no authority (rule, statute, or case law) to support the modified jury instruction that was given to explain the purposes for which the collateral crime evidence could be considered by the jury, and (2) the judge vouched for the credibility of the State's witnesses when he told the jury that the collateral crime evidence could be used to corroborate the victim's testimony. (I.B. 14-16) The State responded that (1) the issues raised on appeal were not properly preserved because they were different from the issue raised at trial, (2) the modified jury instruction was authorized by case law, and (3) it was not an improper comment on the witnesses' credibility. (A.B. 18-19) No reply brief was filed.

The First District Court of Appeal issued an opinion affirming the judgment of conviction as to the first issue but reversing it as to the latter. <u>Rawls v. State</u>, 624 So. 2d 757, 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Rejecting the State's reliance on

- 9 -

<u>Correll</u> and <u>Robertson</u>, the First District concluded that the first issue was preserved because it was objected to "at the outset of the trial." <u>Id.</u>, at 758. Ignoring the State's argument that different grounds were presented on appeal than were raised at trial, the First District also concluded that the second issue was preserved for appeal. It stated, "As for the modified jury instruction, defense counsel clearly objected to the modification at the time it was discussed, which was immediately prior to the jury charge." <u>Id.</u>, at 758.

With respect to the first issue, the First District stated:

The collateral-crime evidence in the instant case satisfies the <u>Heuring</u> test. First, the charged offense and the collateral offenses were strikingly similar and shared some unique characteristic or combination of characteristics which set them apart from other offenses. Appellant befriended the boys' mothers, arranged to move into their homes, paid rent and bought groceries and was generous to all the family members, and then, in the same manner, sexually molested male youths of approximately the same age in their homes while no other person was present while instructing them not to tell anyone what had occurred. Second, the evidence was relevant to prove a material fact in issue, i.e., opportunity, plan, and/or absence of mistake This is so because the or accident. appellant's defense at trial was that he did not commit the charged offense, and that M.R. was mistaken. Therefore, we find no error in the admission of the Williams Rule evidence.

<u>Id.</u>, at 760. The court also rejected Rawls' argument that the collateral crime evidence became a feature of the trial, stating that any excessive emphasis on the evidence was attributable to the defense. Id., at 760.

As to the second issue, the First District stated:

Because there was no evidence in the case below that the charged offense arose within a familial or custodial setting, the instruction was an incorrect statement of the law, because section 90.404(2)(a) does not list victim corroboration as a proper purpose for similar-fact evidence, and <u>Heuring</u> only authorizes use for corroboration in a <u>familial or custodial</u> situation. The effect of this erroneous instruction was to inform the jury that similar-fact evidence was admissible for the purpose of vouching for the credibility of the victim's testimony; a result which is clearly contrary to established case law. [citations omitted]

<u>Id.</u>, at 760. The court further concluded that the error was harmful because the State argued to the jury that the evidence could be used to corroborate the victim's testimony. <u>Id.</u>, 760-761.

The State filed a motion for rehearing or certification. After pointing out that the ground relied on by the court was different from the ground relied on by the defense at trial or on appeal, the State commented:

> Implicitly this Court rejected Rawls' argument on appeal that the modified jury instruction was <u>per se</u> improper but went on to hold that it was improper in this case because <u>Heuring</u> authorized corroboration only in familial or custodial situations and the instant case did not fall into these categories. In this motion, the State has responded by arguing that <u>Heuring</u> applies to situations broader than familial or custodial situations or, alternatively, that the facts in the instant case qualify as a familial situation.

(Rehearing motion, 13)

- 11 -

Alternatively, the State asked the court to certify the same question that was certified in <u>Saffor v. State</u>, 625 So. 2d 31, 36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (en banc), now before this court for review in Case No. 82,531. The question certified in <u>Saffor</u> was, "What is the correct standard to be utilized in determining the admissibility of collateral crime evidence in cases involving sexual battery within the familial context?" <u>Saffor</u> was decided one day after <u>Rawls</u>, and the three judges who decided <u>Rawls</u> dissented in <u>Saffor</u>. The First District denied the State's motion for rehearing or certification.

The State timely invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this court based on conflict with a decision from the Third District. Jurisdiction was accepted on February 25, 1994 and oral argument set for June 6, 1994.

- 12 -

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At trial, the State presented the testimony of eight witnesses: M.R. (sexual battery victim in instant case); Elizabeth R. (M.R.'s mother); Michelle Peavy (sex crime and child abuse investigator for Escambia County Sheriff's Department ); Joseph Delsignore (formerly HRS child protection investigator); J.F., K.F., and T.S. (collateral crime victims); and Marie S. (rebuttal witness--mother of J.F. and K.F.). From their testimony evolved the following facts.

M.R., a nine-year old male child, lived with his mother, her boyfriend, and three siblings (two sisters, 7 and 11, and one brother, 1 year old). (R. 40-42) M.R.'s mother met Rawls at a neighbor's house. (R. 68) Rawls saw M.R. at the neighbor's house, but he did not spend any time with him. (R. 75) Rawls. who was having problems where he lived, wanted to move in with a family that had children. (R. 68-69) Six months after they met, Rawls moved into M.R.'s home. (R. 68) He agreed to pay rent (\$200 monthly) and buy his own groceries. (R. 70) He was good to the family. (R. 70) He and the children seemed to get along well, and he was generous with them. (R. 70, 73) Rawls slept in M.R.'s bedroom, and M.R. slept on the couch in the living room. (R. 42, 70) M.R. was left alone with Rawls "a lot of times." (R. 51, 57)<sup>1</sup> Rawls stayed in M.R.'s home ten days. (R. 69) M.R.'s mother reported Rawls to the police. (R. 70)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> M.R.'s mother testified that she left M.R. alone with Rawls once or twice. (R. 72, 73)

Rawls unbuttoned M.R.'s pants and touched M.R.'s penis and put it in his mouth. (R. 43-44) This happened in the living room and kitchen when they were alone at night or during the day. (R. 43, 51) On one occasion, M.R. told Rawls to stop, but Rawls refused. (R. 44-45) Rawls told M.R. not to tell anyone. (R. 45) M.R. was afraid to tell what had happened. (R. 45) He did tell a friend and Michelle Peavy about Rawls' conduct. (R. 45) M.R. did not know J.F., K.F., or T.S. (R. 72)

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