DA 6-6-94

FILED
UP/
SID J. WHITE
APR 29 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 82,793

AUGUSTAS J. RAWLS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT
FLA. BAR NO. 0513253

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

Respondent contends that Coleman's position violates the rule that penal statutes are to be strictly construed. State v. Waters, 436 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1983); Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla. 1979); Reino v. State, 352 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1977). Courts may not "broadly construe" penal statutes in order to effectuate what they perceive as a social good.

Respondent would also remind this court of two points. First, the state relies heavily for its argument on a comment

from the UCLA Law Review (SB-22 et seq.); Comment, Defining Standards for Determining the Admissibility of Evidence of Other Sex Offenses, 25 UCLA L.Rev. 261 (1977). Respondent reminds the court that a comment is written by a law student, a very bright law student perhaps, but not a lawyer or law professor or anyone else who might, for example, be recognized as an expert in court. Nor apparently have the views of this comment been tested in court since 1977. At least, the state did not cite any court which has adopted the views espoused in the article.

Second, while the court may have an inkling from the state's argument that "familial context" should be broadly construed as to how wide will be the application of any rule the court adopts here, respondent would remind the court of what it said in Hall and Wilson. Wilson v. State, 567 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1990); Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1988). In Hall, the question was whether abuse of familial authority was a valid reason for departure in the case of physical abuse of children. The court held it was not a valid reason, because so many children are abused in a familial setting that it would constitute a built-in reason for departure. In Rogers, the court also held that abuse of familial authority was not a valid reason for departure in the case of sexual abuse of children.

Inter alia, in Wilson, this court approved Laberge v. State, 508 So.2d 416, 417 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), in which the district court said:

While, of course, some such acts are committed by strangers to the children, unhappy experience shows that such statutes are most commonly violated by persons who take advantage of a trust position involving the care, custody, teaching, and training of children, such as educational, religious, social, and child care workers, relatives, stepparents and babysitters. . .

See also, Note, Are Children Competent Witnesses?: A Psychological Perspective, 63 Wash.U.L.Q. 815, 821-22 (1985):

Identification of a perpetrator in sexual abuse cases is not a crucial issue because the perpetrator is usually a close friend or relative of the victim.⁴¹

⁴¹In a three-year study of New York City sexual abuse cases, concluded in 1971, researchers found that in 75% of the cases reported, the offender was a member of the child's own household, a relative not living in the neighborhood, a neighbor, a friend, or a person in the community with whom the child had frequent contact. Undeutsch, Courtroom Evaluation of Eyewitness Testimony, 33 Int'l Rev. of Applied Psychology 51 (1984); accord Berliner & Barbieri, The Testimony of the Child Victim of Sexual Assault, 40:2 J. of Soc. Issues, 125,126 (1984).

What this means is that, if court were to broaden Heuring so that similar fact evidence were admissible merely to corroborate the child's testimony, in every case in which the child knows the defendant (apparently the ruling the state is seeking), the court should realize what it would be doing. It would be making similar fact/collateral crime evidence admissible in the vast, vast majority of cases of sex crimes against children. Perhaps the court would view this as an acceptable result, but it should not be deceived that its ruling would apply only to the occasional or extraordinary case.

The state never expressly bridges the gap from its argument the evidence is admissible to its argument the jury instruction may be modified. Presumably, the state believes that if the court were to accept the former proposition, the latter would follow as night follows day. Respondent believes otherwise.

By instructing the jury that it could consider the evidence in corroboration, the judge in effect commented on the evidence by vouching for the credibility of the victim-witness.

Rawls, 624 So.2d at 760; see, State v. Townsend, ____ So.2d ____, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S202 (Fla. April 21, 1994); Feller v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S196, 197 (Fla. April 21, 1994); Tingle v. State, 536 So.2d 202, 205 (Fla. 1988).

Any suggestion by the judge of his opinion regarding facts or witnesses is improper. Rawls, 624 So.2d at 760; Reyes v. State, 547 So.2d 347 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); see Fenelon v. State, 594 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1992). A reasonable juror could easily have interpreted the instruction given as a direction by the court to accept the victim's testimony as credible and corroborated. In so instructing the jury, the judge interfered with the jury's sacred duty to weigh the facts and assess the credibility of witnesses. Rawls properly objected to this instruction. As it was error, he is entitled to new trial.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF THREE OTHER BOYS THAT APPELLANT RAWLS HAD COMMITTED SEXUAL ACTS ON THEM (restated).

Respondent has chosen to argue separately the state's main contention in its merit brief - that the collateral crime/similar fact evidence was admissible under Heuring, supra.

Similar fact/collateral crime evidence is inherently prejudicial to a defendant's right to a fair trial. Heuring, 513 So.2d at 124; Thomas, supra, 599 So.2d at 162. In fact, this court has held a violation of the Williams rule, to be presumed harmful. Peek v. State, 488 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1986); Williams, supra; Thomas, 599 So.2d at 164.

Although the state won in the district court on the issue of the admissibility of the Williams rule evidence, on appeal to this court, the state argues the trial court was permitted, under Heuring, to modify the instruction, and that the First District "misapplied, if not outright misinterpreted Heuring" (SB-19). Respondent disagrees with this assessment.

A. Admission of collateral crime/
similar fact evidence under Heuring

"To minimize the risk of a wrongful conviction, the similar fact evidence must meet a strict standard of relevance." Thomas, 599 So.2d at 162, quoting Heuring. Therefore, section 90.404, Florida Statutes, and accompanying decisional law require that the charged offense and collateral offense must both 1) be strikingly similar and also 2) share unique and distinguishing characteristics. Heuring; Turtle v. State, 600

So.2d 1214 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). This court has very recently reaffirmed the need for striking similarity in Feller, supra. Third, the evidence must be clearly relevant to establish a material fact in issue such as identity, motive, opportunity, plan, knowledge, or absence of mistake or accident. Thomas, 599 So.2d at 162.

Fourth, even if relevant, such evidence may be inadmissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, misleading the jury or unnecessarily cumulative evidence. Turtle, 600 So.2d at 1218. "If there is no bona fide dispute over a material fact that the similar fact evidence is offered to prove, then the probative value of such evidence necessarily has significantly less importance than its prejudicial effect, and the evidence should be excluded under section 90.403." Thomas, 599 So.2d at 162. Substantial prejudice may exist if the prosecution places undue emphasis on the collateral evidence, making it a feature of the trial.

In Turtle, a case also involving sexual battery on a child under 12, the First District considered testimony of alleged sexual conduct with a different child. The district court noted that the testimony on the collateral matter was extensive, and the prosecutor emphasized that evidence in arguments. 600 So.2d at 1217. The problem was exacerbated because the two boys had the same name. This court found that the extensive evidence and argument regarding this matter was attributable to

the state, not to defense tactics, and the admission was unduly prejudicial and deprived Turtle of a fair trial. *Id.* at 1218.

The First District reached a similar result in Thomas, supra. In that case of sexual battery on a child under 12, the trial court admitted evidence of a prior sex offense in Georgia which occurred over 12 years before the charged offense. The court noted that a collateral offense, to be admissible, must be strikingly similar to the charged offense, sharing unique characteristics, and also must be probative of a material fact in issue. 599 So.2d at 162.

In Thomas, the state argued that the defendant took advantage of young girls in his custody and, therefore, the "familial setting" rule should apply, making the collateral evidence relevant to show a pattern of criminality. The First District rejected that argument, noting that the Georgia victim was not related to that defendant by blood and she did not reside in the same household with Thomas. 599 So.2d at 163. The court also noted that neither opportunity, plan nor scheme were elements of the charged offense. Instead, the court found that the only possible inference that reasonably could be drawn from the evidence of the Georgia incident was a propensity for sexual offenses on young girls, which was improper. *Id.* at 163-64. The First District granted new trial, and this court denied review.

Similarly here, the evidence of the three other boys was not relevant to any disputed issue, but instead, suggested propensity, the very suggestion prohibited by the evidence code

and caselaw. Similarities were very general: the boys knew Rawls, the same act was alleged, all alleged he told them not to tell, and different locations were alleged. The few shared aspects were not "strikingly" similar or unique.

The district court opinion below held that the collateral acts here were "strikingly similar and shared some unique characteristic or combination of characteristics which set them apart from other offenses." Rawls, 624 So.2d at 760. The court set out these unique characteristics thus:

Appellant befriended the boys' mothers, arranged to move into their homes, paid rent and bought groceries and was generous to all the family members, and then, in the same manner, sexually molested male youths of approximately the same age in their homes while no other person was present while instructing them not to tell anyone what occurred.

Id. A comparison with the evidence in Turtle is instructive:

The similarities shown between the two incidents, Turtle argues, are that he befriended both boys, gave both boys gifts, allegedly molested both boys, and then told them not to tell anyone about the incidents.

600 So.2d at 1216. In Turtle, a psychologist, Dr. Hodges, testified about the characteristics of a pedophile:

A pedophile generally makes themselves [sic] available to children. They put themselves in positions where they are going to have contact with children. For example, baby-sitting, coaching Little League, scout masters, teaching, . . . and then the idea is to provide attention, gifts. They are very generous individuals in developing the relationship. So there's a sense of loyalty. There's a sense of trust that makes it easier to sexually victimize a child. And then also the idea of

what I talked about earlier, the betrayal, if someone is nice to me and gives me things, I don't want to betray them.

Id. at 1221. In Turtle, the First District avoided deciding whether the Williams rule evidence was similar enough, because it held the evidence became a feature of the trial and was unduly prejudicial under section 90.403, Florida Statutes. 600 So.2d at 1218.

Dr. Hodges' testimony, improper though it was in Turtle, nevertheless demonstrates that most of the characteristics which the district court here held to be both strikingly similar and to demonstrate unique characteristics, are not and do not. Most of the characteristics, far from being unique, are instead, typical of pedophiles, that is, someone who has sexual desires for children. Id. The district court here noted that Rawls befriended the boys' mothers - or the boys themselves, either way, he gains access. Access is not only typical, but is also a necessary prerequisite to committing the crime. As the First District noted in Thomas, opportunity is hardly ever at issue in cases of child sex crimes. Children are typically molested by someone with opportunity/access. In other words, far from being a unique characteristic, it is present in every case. Further, if the defendant is not a relative, friendship would be a typical way to gain access.

Rawls was generous to the families - a characteristic Hodges noted as typical. Rawls molested them in their homes - surely typical of more than half of sex crimes against children. He molested them while no one was present - typical of

the vast majority of sex crimes against children. He told them not to tell anyone - typical of half or more of sex crimes against children, and related to Hodges' discussion of betrayal.

That leaves these facts to be both strikingly similar and unique: 1) he rented a room from the mothers - everyone has to live somewhere; 2) he bought groceries - he bought his own groceries, which is hardly unusual of boarders; 3) he committed similar sex acts, 4) on boys of approximately the same age. It is true all the boys alleged that Rawls performed oral sex on them, but this could hardly be described as a distinctively unique sex act. All in all, the district court's ruling results from a superficial analysis of factors which, while similar, are not "strikingly" similar, and hardly so unique or distinctive that they had to be committed by the same person.

Even more significant than the court's questionable analysis of striking similarity and unique characteristics, however, was the court's offhand treatment of the last requirement of Heuring, which the First District has previously characterized as a "critical aspect of the test of admissibility," and that is whether it tends to prove a material fact in issue. Thomas, 599 So.2d at 162. In Heuring, this court noted that, when the child knows the defendant, identity is hardly ever at issue. In Thomas, the First District noted that neither opportunity nor scheme or plan was a disputed issue. Respondent contends, and Thomas supports the contention, that "opportunity" is scarcely ever an actual disputed issue in cases of child sex

abuse. The accused is typically a relative or acquaintance who has clearly had "opportunity" to commit the crime. As Rawls lived with the family, there is no dispute that he had opportunity, i.e., access to the child.

Against this background, in the instant case, the district court disposed of this "critical aspect" of the test thus:

Second, the evidence was relevant to prove a material fact in issue, i.e., opportunity, plan, and/or absence of mistake or accident. This is so because the appellant's defense at trial was that he did not commit the charged offense, and that M.R. was mistaken.

Rawls, 624 So.2d at 760. Although the district court should know better by now, it still took a shotgun approach to the ground for admissibility. None of these matters was in fact a disputed issue: not opportunity, not plan, not absence of mistake or accident. Rawls did not testify that it happened by accident. The "mistake" to which the Williams rule refers is not a defense that the accuser is mistaken. Rather, it is like the defense alleged in Williams itself.

Williams was convicted of raping a woman. He had waited for the woman in her parked car. When arrested, Williams claimed to have gotten into a car which he mistakenly believed to be his brother's and fallen asleep, only to be awakened when the woman entered the car. He did not make this claim at trial. Nevertheless, at trial, the state introduced evidence that, on a different day, another woman had discovered Williams waiting in her parked car. She screamed, and he ran. When stopped soon after, Williams explained that he had gotten into

the car, mistakenly believing it to be his brother's, fell asleep, and was awakened when the woman entered the car. 110 So.2d at 657-58. This evidence tended to prove that his having entered the car was not a mistake. In contrast, a defense that the accuser is mistaken is not the defense of "mistake" within the meaning of the Williams rule.

B. Heuring vs. the evidence code

There is, however, a far more fundamental error here, to which the issue raised in Saffor, supra, is pertinent. In Saffor, the First District certified a question asking what is the correct standard to determine admissibility of collateral crime evidence.

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